

Original Research Article

EFFECT OF TRIPLE SUPER PHOSPHATE ON THE GROWTH AND YIELD OF BORO RICE IN HAOR AREAS OF SUNAMGANJ DISTRICT IN BANGLADESH

ABSTRACT

A field experiment was conducted at Bilpar village of Sunamganj district during November 2016 to May 2017 to find out the effects of TSP fertilizer on the growth and yield of boro rice in *haor* areas. Two factors viz. varieties (BRR1 dhan29 and BRR1 dhan58) and six TSP fertilizer levels [F_1 - 85 kgTSP ha⁻¹ (Farmers' practice), F_2 - 142 kgTSP ha⁻¹, F_3 - 127 kgTSP ha⁻¹, F_4 - 112 kgTSP ha⁻¹ (BARC recommended dose), F_5 - 97 kgTSP ha⁻¹, F_6 - 82kgTSP ha⁻¹] were included in the experiment. The experiment was conducted in the farmers' field and laid out in a RCBD with three replications. Data were taken on plant height and tillers hill⁻¹ at 15 days intervals. The yield and yield contributing parameters were also taken at harvest. Plant height, number of total tillers, effective tillers hill⁻¹, panicle length, sterile spikelets, 1000 grain weight, grain and straw yield varied significantly due to variety. BRR1 dhan58 produced higher number of effective tillers (10.60) and grains panicle⁻¹ (136.9) over BRR1 dhan28. BRR1 dhan58 produced higher grain yield (8.92 t ha⁻¹) compared to BRR1 dhan28 (7.27 t ha⁻¹). All the studied parameters differed significantly with the application of TSP fertilizer except non-effective tillers hill⁻¹. Application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹ produced the highest number of effective tillers hill⁻¹ (12.00) and the lowest in farmers practice (7.20). Fertilizer Recommendation Guide based TSP fertilizer (112 kg ha⁻¹) produced the highest grain yield (8.80 t ha⁻¹) of boro rice and the lowest grain yield (7.40 t ha⁻¹) in farmers' practice. Results of the study elucidated that TSP application @ 112 kg ha⁻¹ was effective to improve the rice productivity.

Key words: Rice, TSP fertilizer, Growth & Yield.

1. INTRODUCTION

Agriculture is a large sub-sector of economy since it comprises about 14.23% of the country's GDP [1]. Major share is responsible for rice production. Sufficient rice production is the key to ensure food security in Bangladesh. In fact, 'Rice security' is synonymous to 'Food security' in Bangladesh as in many other rice growing countries [2]. Since *Haor* goes under flooding (5-10 m) from late May to October, so only winter rice (boro rice) covered 80% of total area as mono crop. It is worthy to mention that Haor areas contribute with 18% to the national rice production [3]. Majority of *haor* farmers practiced BRR1 dhan29, but its long crop duration (165 days) invites crop yields subject to flash flood. Considering natural calamities BRR1 dhan58 (150-155 days) has some positive effects. It can be harvest 7-10 days earlier than BRR1 dhan29 with same yield potential and avert early flash flood. It has been observed that crop yield reductions are strongly related with soil quality degradation, particularly nutrient depletions [4], which

Comment [H1]: Where?

can be attributed to either insufficient or imbalanced fertilizer use [5]. The rate and types of fertilizers used depend on a farmer's financial ability, and the farmer's choice is often made without considering indigenous supply capacities of soils under variables agro in ecological zone of Bangladesh. Besides, being cheaper and prompt visible response of N than P and K fertilizers, farmers apply more N (in single fertilizer form) for rice production [6] and thus create nutrients imbalance in many cases. The imbalanced fertilizer use in Bangladesh agriculture is speeding up in nutrients depletion [7,8], which becomes a major problem in rice production. The rice yield in the P-deficit soil was less than 50% of that obtained from soils containing even moderate levels of P [9]. Using inadequate P for intensive cropping systems and with the inclusion of modern cultivars rice, most of the soils of Bangladesh become P deficit [10]. Haor soil is usually deficient in phosphorus. As a reason P limits growth and yield of rice [11]. Due to low P^H of soil in the haor area P availability is lower. Thus the application of phosphate fertilizer is essential for better crop production. From the views above, two modern varieties were tested to identify the adequate dose of phosphorus to achieve the higher yield.

2. MATERIALS AND METHOD

The experiment was conducted at Bilpar village under the Saidergaon union of Chatokupazila of Sunamganj district during Boro season (November 2016 to May 2017) to evaluate the effect of phosphate fertilizer on growth and yield of two modern boro rice varieties. The soil was silty clay loam in texture containing pH 4.50, organic matter content 2.69%, total N 0.14%, available P 1.17 mg dm^{-3} , exchangeable K $0.12 \text{ me } 100 \text{ g}^{-1} \text{ cmol}_c \text{ dm}^{-3}$ soil and available S 25.16 mg dm^{-3} as initial status. Two factors experiment was laid out in a Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with two boro rice cultivars (BRRI dhan29 and BRRI dhan58) and six TSP fertilizer levels [F_1 - 85 kgTSP ha^{-1} (Farmers' practice), F_2 - 142 kgTSP ha^{-1} , F_3 - 127 kgTSP ha^{-1} , F_4 - 112 kgTSP ha^{-1} (BARC recommended dose), F_5 - 97 kgTSP ha^{-1} , F_6 - 82kgTSP ha^{-1}] replicated thrice. All the fertilizers except urea i.e. TSP, MoP, gypsum and zinc-sulphate were applied as basal doses in all the plots at final land preparation. Urea was applied in three equal splits. The size of plot was 4 m \times 5 m. Thirty five days old seedlings were transplanted maintain spacing 20 cm \times 15 cm. The experimental field was prepared on 1-5 January, 2017. Immediately after final land preparation, the experimental layout was made on 5-6 January 2017 according to experimental treatments. Rice was transplanted on 6 January 2017. Standing water was maintained at 4-5 cm in the field throughout the growing period. Different intercultural operations such as irrigation, weeding, pest control etc. were done as and when required. BRRI dhan58 and BRRI dhan29 were harvested on 3rd and 11th May 2017, respectively. Growth data, at maturity 5 hills were randomly selected in each plot for recording the data. The grain and straw weights for each plot were recorded after proper sun drying and then converted into t ha^{-1} . The recorded data were compiled and tabulated for statistical analysis. Analysis of variance was done with the help of computer package, MSTAT-C. The mean differences among the treatments adjudged using Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT).

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Subscript

Formatted: Superscript

Comment [H2]: Confused.

Comment [H3]: If phosphorus doses are applied, the statistical analysis applied should be quantitative. Therefore, regression, ANOVA and Duncan are most recommended for qualitative data.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Plant height

Plant heights of tested varieties were recorded at 15, 30, 45, 60, 75 days after transplanting (DAT) and at harvest. Plant heights at 15, 30, 45, 60 DAT and at harvest differed significantly while difference at 75 DAT was statistically insignificant (Table1). BRRRI dhan58 produced higher plant height (94.97 cm) than BRRRI dhan29 (91.14 cm) at harvest. This result supported by [12] and [13] also found the similar result that plant height varied significantly at different DAT among 12 indigenous boro rice varieties. Plant heights also varied significantly due to different levels of TSP fertilizer application. As per Table 2, phosphorus levels significantly influenced plant heights throughout crops growth and up to maturity, in which application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹ produced the longest plant (94.40 cm) which was statistically similar with F₂ or 142 kg TSP ha⁻¹ (94.03 cm). Plant grown under farmers' practice had produced the shortest plant (92.02 cm). An increased phosphorus application, increased plant height was evident due to better root increase and nutrient uptake by [14]. The effect of interaction of varieties and TSP levels did not vary the plant heights significantly.

Comment [H4]: You did not discuss the results.

Table 1. Effect of variety and TSP fertilizer rates on plant height of boro rice at different DAT in the

haorareas

Comment [H5]: Check the statistic.

Treatment	Plant height (cm)					
	15 DAT	30 DAT	45 DAT	60 DAT	75 DAT	At harvest
Variety						
BRRRI dhan29	26.65b	35.84b	49.50b	64.32b	83.13	91.14b
BRRRI dhan58	28.28a	43.66a	56.95a	72.01a	84.28	94.97a
LS	**	**	**	**	NS	**
TSP fertilizer rate (kg ha ⁻¹)						
F ₁ (85)	25.34b	38.38b	50.45c	64.31	76.05	92.02b
F ₂ (142)	28.02a	39.62ab	55.36ab	69.64	85.45	94.03a
F ₃ (127)	27.73a	39.89a	52.58abc	68.26	82.73	92.75b
F ₄ (112)	28.19a	40.81a	56.35a	70.36	88.37	94.40a
F ₅ (97)	27.81a	39.86a	52.95abc	68.31	83.91	92.75b
F ₆ (82)	27.73a	39.95a	52.05bc	68.14	85.73	92.40b
S \bar{x}	0.29	0.32	1.23	-	-	0.27
LS	**	**	*	NS	NS	**

In a column, the figure(s) having similar letter do not differ significantly whereas dissimilar letter differ significantly. ** = Significant at 1% level of probability, * = Significant at 5% level of probability, NS= Not significant, LS= Level of significance.

3.2 Total tillers hill⁻¹

Comment [H6]: You did not discuss the results.

Effect of two varieties on number of tillers hill⁻¹ at 75 DAT and at harvest differed significantly. BRRRI dhan58 gave higher total tillers hill⁻¹ (14.10) compared to BRRRI dhan29 (11.90) (Table 2). [15] observed the variations in number of total tillers hill⁻¹ under different varieties. Number of total tillers hill⁻¹ varied

significantly due to different rates of TSP fertilizers application at 15, 30, 45, 75, 90 days after transplanting (DAT) and at harvest (Table 2). The highest total tillers hill⁻¹ (14.70) was found due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹ which was statistically superior to other TSP levels and farmers' practice (85 kg TSP ha⁻¹) gave the lowest number of total tillers hill⁻¹ (10.90). The statement of [16] revealed that phosphorus application on rice plants increased production of tillers. [17] stated that tillers number reduction after 75 DAT, it could be happened due to tiller mortality of rice plants after reproductive stage. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on tiller production were not significant.

Table 2. Effect of variety and TSP fertilizer rates on number of total tillers hill⁻¹ of boro rice at different DAT in the haor areas

Treatment	Total tillers hill ⁻¹ (no.)					
	15 DAT	30 DAT	45 DAT	60 DAT	75 DAT	At harvest
Variety						
BRR1 dhan29	3.00	6.80	13.70	18.30	21.20b	11.90b
BRR1 dhan58	3.20	6.90	14.00	18.90	21.80a	14.10a
LS	NS	NS	NS	NS	**	**
TSP fertilizer rate (kg ha ⁻¹)						
F ₁ (85)	2.40b	5.80c	13.10c	17.80	20.60d	10.90d
F ₂ (142)	3.20ab	7.00ab	14.40ab	19.30	21.90ab	13.40b
F ₃ (127)	3.80a	7.20ab	13.90abc	18.60	21.60bc	13.30b
F ₄ (112)	3.90a	7.80a	14.80a	19.80	22.60a	14.70a
F ₅ (97)	2.60b	6.70b	13.50bc	18.20	21.30bcd	13.30b
F ₆ (82)	2.60b	6.30bc	13.40bc	17.90	20.90cd	12.20c
S \bar{x}	0.34	0.21	0.25	-	0.21	0.23
LS	*	**	**	NS	**	**

In a column, the figure(s) having similar letter do not differ significantly whereas dissimilar letter differ significantly. ** = Significant at 1% level of probability, * = Significant at 5% level of probability, NS= Not significant, LS= Level of significance.

3.3 Effective tillers hill⁻¹

Higher number of effective tillers hill⁻¹ (10.60) was observed in BRR1 dhan58 in comparison to BRR1 dhan29 (Table 3). Effective tillers hill⁻¹ in modern boro rice was also varied significantly due to different levels of TSP fertilizer application. Application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹ produced the highest number of effective tillers hill⁻¹ (12.00) which was statistically different to other levels. Plants grown under farmers' practice F₁ (85 kg TSP ha⁻¹) produced the lowest effective tillers hill⁻¹ (7.20). [18] also reported that it is necessary to apply much P fertilizers to help rice plants to accelerate the phosphate absorption for increased tillering. [19] reported that the 75 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ produced higher effective tillers hill⁻¹. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on effective tillers hill⁻¹ were not significant.

3.4 Number of non-effective tillers hill⁻¹

Varieties showed non-significant effect on non-effective tillers hill⁻¹ (Table 3). Numerically, higher number of non-effective tillers hill⁻¹ (3.50) was observed in BRR1 dhan58 in comparison to BRR1 dhan29 (3.30). The effect of TSP fertilizer application on non-effective tillers hill⁻¹ also non-significant (Table 3). Numerically the highest non-effective tillers hill⁻¹ (3.80) was observed under farmers' practice and the

Comment [H7]: Idem.

Comment [H8]: You did not discuss the results.

Comment [H9]: You did not discuss the results.

lowest (3.00) due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on non-effective tillers hill⁻¹ were not significant.

3.5 Grains panicle⁻¹

Variety exerted non-significant influence on grains panicle⁻¹ while significantly affected by different TSP fertilizer levels (Table 3). The highest number of grains panicle⁻¹ (147.50) was observed due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹, which was statistically similar to those recorded in F₂ and F₃ with values 136.00 and 135.40, respectively. Farmers' practice i.e application of 85 kg TSP ha⁻¹ produced the lowest grains panicle⁻¹ (123.90). Perhaps, the more sufficient the number of grains panicle⁻¹ produced, the better capacity the crop has to bring forth sufficient yields. [20] reported that 50 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ gave the highest total grains panicle⁻¹. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on grains panicle⁻¹ were not significant.

3.6 Panicle length

Longer panicle (23.80 cm) was observed in BRRIdhan58 in comparison to BRRIdhan29 (22.30 cm) (Table 3). The longest panicle length (24.77 cm) was found due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹ which was statistically similar with 142 kg TSP ha⁻¹. The shortest panicle length (18.57 cm) was found under farmers' practice (85 kg TSP ha⁻¹). Similar result was reported for low land rice by [21]. [22] observed that due to the application of 60 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ increased the panicle length. Interaction effects of varieties and TSP levels on panicle length were not significant.

3.7 Total spikelets panicle⁻¹

Number of total spikelets panicle⁻¹ was not responded significantly to varieties, while varied significantly due to application of TSP fertilizer levels (Table 3). The highest total spikelets panicle⁻¹ (178.10) was observed due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹. Farmers' practice i.e application of 85 kg TSP ha⁻¹ produced the lowest total spikelets panicle⁻¹ (151.70). Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on total spikelets panicle⁻¹ were not significant.

Comment [H10]: You did not discuss the results.

Comment [H11]: You did not discuss the results.

Table 3. Effect of varieties and TSP fertilizer rates on yield and yield contributing characters of boro rice in the haor areas

Treatment	Effective tillers hill ⁻¹ (no.)	Non-effective tillers hill ⁻¹ (no.)	Grains panicle ⁻¹ (no.)	Panicle length (cm)	Total spikelets panicle ⁻¹ (no.)
Variety					
BRRIdhan29	8.50b	3.30	130.2	22.30b	162.2
BRRIdhan58	10.60a	3.50	136.9	23.80a	162.7

Comment [H12]: Idem.

LS	**	NS	NS	**	NS
TSP fertilizer rate (kg ha ⁻¹)					
F ₁ (85)	7.20c	3.80	123.9b	18.57c	151.7b
F ₂ (142)	9.90b	3.40	136.0ab	23.43ab	166.5ab
F ₃ (127)	9.80b	3.40	135.4ab	22.50b	166.0ab
F ₄ (112)	12.00a	3.00	147.5a	24.77a	178.1a
F ₅ (97)	9.70b	3.50	133.5b	22.23b	161.7ab
F ₆ (82)	8.70b	3.50	125.0b	21.27b	157.8ab
S _x	0.37	-	4.37	1.35	3.50
LS	**	NS	*	*	**

In a column, the figure(s) having similar letter do not differ significantly whereas dissimilar letter differ significantly. ** = Significant at 1% level of probability, * = Significant at 5% level of probability, NS= Not significant, LS= Level of significance.

3.8 Sterile spikelets panicle⁻¹

Higher number of sterile spikelets panicle⁻¹ was recorded in BRRI dhan29 (32.60) than BRRI dhan58 (25.30). However, spikelet sterility also affected by genetic potential and response of the varieties to stress conditions. Similar spikelet sterility percentage differences across the varieties have been reported by [23]. Application of different TSP fertilizer levels had significant effect on sterile spikelets panicle⁻¹ of bororice (Table 4). Among the P levels, the highest sterile spikelets panicle⁻¹ (32.90) was produced due to Farmers' practice (85 kg TSP ha⁻¹) and this might be due to more number of unfilled grains in the panicles, while the lowest (23.00) was obtained due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹. This result was supported by [24]. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on sterile spikelets panicle⁻¹ were not significant.

3.9 1000-grain weight

The effect of variety on 1000-grain weight did not vary significantly while application of different TSP fertilizer levels increased the 1000-grain weight significant (Table 4). The 1000-grain weight ranged from 21 to 23.40 g. All other P levels showed increased 1000-grain weight over Farmers' practice. The highest 1000-grain weight (23.40 g) was found due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹, which was statistically similar to F₂, F₃, F₅, F₆. The lowest 1000-grain weight (21.00 g) was observed due to the farmers' practice i.e. application of 85 kg TSP ha⁻¹. [25] reported application of 30 kg ha⁻¹ P gave the highest 1000-grain weight. [26] found that application of 72 kg P₂O₅ ha⁻¹ gave the highest 1000 grain weight. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on 1000-grain weight were not significant.

3.10 Grain yield

BRRI dhan58 produced higher grain yield of 8.92 t ha⁻¹ in comparison to BRRI dhan29 (7.27 t ha⁻¹). The results are in conformity with the observation of [23] in hybrid rice and [27] in T. aman rice. The grain yield varied significantly from 7.40 t ha⁻¹ to 8.80 t ha⁻¹ and increased linearly with the increment of the TSP fertilizer doses up to 112 kg ha⁻¹ and thereafter decreased (Table 4). The highest grain yield (8.80 t ha⁻¹) was obtained due to application of 112 kg TSP ha⁻¹, which was statistically identical to F₂ and F₃ levels but

significant over F_1 , F_5 and F_6 levels. The lowest grain yield (7.40 t ha^{-1}) was recorded due to Farmers' practice F_1 ($85 \text{ kg TSP ha}^{-1}$) in respect of other levels of P fertilizer application. The yield advantage was mainly due to more filled grains panicle⁻¹ and the largest grains. [25] reported similar response of P on grain yield. [28] showed application of $50 \text{ kg P}_2\text{O}_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ is sufficient for rice cultivation. [29] reported that highest grain yield with the application of $80 \text{ kg P}_2\text{O}_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on grain yield were not significant.

3.11 Straw yield

BRRRI dhan58 produced higher straw yield (11.80 t ha^{-1}) followed by BRRRI dhan29 (10.02 t ha^{-1}). [30] reported that biomass production varied with variety which rendering different straw yield. The highest straw yield (11.90 t ha^{-1}) was produced due to application of $112 \text{ kg TSP ha}^{-1}$, which was significantly similar to F_2 and F_3 levels but significant over farmers' practice (Table 4). The lowest straw yield (10.03 t ha^{-1}) was observed due to farmers' practice $85 \text{ kg TSP ha}^{-1}$. [31] also reported similar effect of phosphorus. [26] also found that application of $48 \text{ kg P}_2\text{O}_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ and $72 \text{ kg P}_2\text{O}_5 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ gave higher straw yield. Combined effects of varieties and TSP levels on straw yield were not significant.

Table 2. Effect of varieties and TSP fertilizer rates on yield and yield contributing characters of boro rice in the haor areas

Treatment	Sterile spikelets panicle ⁻¹ (no.)	1000-grain weight (g)	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹)	Straw yield (t ha ⁻¹)
Variety				
BRRRI dhan29	32.60a	22.20	7.27b	10.02b
BRRRI dhan58	25.30b	22.60	8.92a	11.80a
LS	**	NS	**	**
TSP fertilizer rate (kg ha ⁻¹)				
F_1 (85)	32.90a	21.00b	7.40c	10.30b
F_2 (142)	25.70bc	23.04a	8.30ab	11.20ab
F_3 (127)	27.60abc	22.30ab	8.30ab	11.10ab
F_4 (112)	23.90c	23.40a	8.80a	11.90a
F_5 (97)	30.80ab	22.80ab	7.90bc	10.60b
F_6 (82)	32.90a	21.90ab	7.80bc	10.60b
$S_{\bar{x}}$	2.14	0.43	0.17	0.27
LS	*	**	**	**

In a column, the figure(s) having similar letter(s) do not differ significantly whereas dissimilar letter(s) differ significantly. ** = Significant at 1% level of probability, * = Significant at 5% level of probability, NS = Not significant, LS = Level of significance.

4. CONCLUSION

Variety BRRRI dhan58 produced higher grain yield in comparison to BRRRI dhan29 in the haor areas. It was also observed that application of TSP fertilizer following BARC recommendation guide (112 kg ha^{-1}) gave the highest grain yield. BRRRI dhan58 with $112 \text{ kg TSP ha}^{-1}$ may be disseminated among the farmers of the haor area for higher yield.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Comment [H13]: You did not discuss the results.

Comment [H14]: Idem.

Comment [H15]: Is this formatting correct?

The authors express thankful acknowledgement for the financial support rendered by Bangladesh Agricultural Research Council (BARC) under the project of "Yield gap minimization of boro rice in the haor areas through agronomic management with special reference to fertilization" and the Ministry of Science and Technology support first author through "NST" fellowship.

COMPETING INTERESTS

Authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

Author GOSWAMI BK and Author KASHEM MA designed the study. Author GOSWAMI BK wrote the protocol, wrote the first draft, reviewed and re-write the manuscripts. Author KASHEM MA and Author AZIZ MA managed the analyses of the study. Author AZIZ MA managed the literature searches. Author SAHA TK performed the statistical analysis. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

REFERENCES

1. BBS (Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics). Statistical Year Book of Bangladesh. Stat. Div. Min. Planning. Dhaka; 2018.
2. Brolley M. Rice security is food security for much of the world. Rice Today. International Rice Research Institute (IRRI), DAPO Box 7777, Metro Manila, Philippines. 2015; 30-32.
3. Huq S, Rahman AKMA, Ali SMI, Moeller P, Gnoyke P. Conference Proceedings on 1st National Conference, Community Based Adaptation to Climate Change in Bangladesh Community Based Adaptation to Climate Change in Bangladesh. Bangladesh Centre for Advanced Studies (BCAS), Dhaka, Bangladesh, 08-09 April 2012.
4. Roy RN, Misra RV, Lesschen JP, Smaling EM. Assessment of soil nutrient balance. Approaches and methodologies. FAO Fertilizer and Plant Nutrition Bulletin 14. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2003;101.
5. Tan ZX, Lal R, Wiebe KD. Global soil nutrient depletion and yield reduction. J. Sustainable Agric. 2005;26:123-146.
6. Biswas JC, Islam MR, Biswas SR, Islam MJ. Crop productivity at farmers' fields: Options for soil test based fertilizer use and cropping patterns. Bangladesh Agron. J. 2004;10(1 & 2): 31-41.
7. Panauallah GM. Soil salinity and associated problems in connection with crop production in the coastal region of Bangladesh. Proc. Workshop on Soil Salinity and Crop Production in Bangladesh. February 17, 1993. Bangladesh Rice Research Institute, Gazipur. 1993;1-30.

8. Rijpma J, Islam MF. Nutrient mining and its effect on crop production and environment in Bangladesh. <ftp://ftp.fao.org/agl> (Access on 18-4-2015).
9. Saleque MA, Abedin MJ, Panaullah GM, Bhuyian NI. Yield and phosphorus efficiency of some lowland rice varieties at different levels of soil available phosphorus. *Commun. Soil Sci.Plant Anal.* 1998;29:2905-2916.
10. Ali MM, Saheed SM, Kubota D, Masunaga T, Wakatsuki T. Soil degradation during the period 1967-1995 in Bangladesh. II. Selected chemical characters. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutri.* 1997; 43:879-890.
11. Yampracha S, Attanandana T, Diana AS, Yost RS. Predicting the dissolution of rock phosphates in flooded acid sulphate soils. *Soil Science Society American Journal.* 2005;69(6):2000-2001.
12. Al- Amin. Effect of fertilizer on gap minimization of boro rice varieties in *haor* areas, MS. Thesis. Dept. Soil Sci, SylhetAgril. Univ., Sylhet. 2016; 50.
13. Roy SK, Ali MY, Jahan MS, Saha UK, Hasan MM, Alam MA. Evaluation of growth and yield attributing characteristics of indigenous boro rice varieties. *Life Science Journal.* 2014;11(4):122–126.
14. Turner BL, Papházy MJ, Haygarth PM, McKelvie ID. Inositol phosphates in the environment. *Philos Trans R SocLond B Biol Sci.*2002;357:449–469.
15. Sarker AK 2012: Effect of variety and nitrogen level on yield and yield performance of transplanted aman rice, M.S Thesis in Agron., Bangladesh Agril. Univ., Mymensingh. 2012;25- 27.
16. Alam MM, Ruhul-Amin AKM, Hassan Uzzaman M. Yield attributes, Yield and harvest Index of three irrigated rice varieties under different levels of phosphorus. *Advance in Biological Research;*2009.
17. Yoshida S. Physiological analysis of rice yield In: *Fundamental of Rice Crop Science*, IRRI, Los Banos, Philippines. 1981;91-98.
18. Matsuo T, Kumazawa K, Ishii R, Ishihara K, Hirata H. *Science of the plant. Volume Two physiology.* Food and Agriculture Policy Research Centre, Tokyo. Japan. 1995;1240.
19. Alam MM, Hasanuzzaman MH, Nahar K. Growth pattern of three high yielding rice varieties under different phosphorus levels. *Advances in Biological Research.* 2009a;3(3-4):110-116.
20. RafiqueAK, MA, RahmanKMM, Ali MA, PramanikMYA, ChowdhuryAK. Effect of applied zinc and phosphorus on yield and zinc and phosphorus contents of rice cv. BR 11. *Bangladesh Journal of Agricultural Science.* 2005 ; 32(1):81-86.
21. Sahar A, Burbey N. Effect of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium (NPK) compound dosages on the

growth and yield of lowland rice. *Journal Stigma Indonesia*. 2003; 11(1):26-29.

22. Masthan SC, Reddy SN, Reddy TMM, Mohammad S. Productivity potential of rice-sunflower-green gram cropping system as influenced by rational use of phosphorus. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*. 1999;44(2):232-236.
23. Obaidullah M. Influence of clonal tillers age on growth and yield of inbred and hybrid rice. M.S. Thesis Dept. Agron., Sher-e-Bangla Agricultural University. Dhaka-1207; 2006.
24. Kamuruzzaman. Effect of fertilizer package and agronomic practices on the yield of boro rice in hoar areas, MS. Thesis. Dept. Soil Sci, Sylhet Agril. Univ., Sylhet. 2016; 47.
25. Shah MAL. Phosphorus nutrition of rice varieties in relation to phosphorus sources and rates on a phosphorus deficit soil. Ph.D. Thesis Dept. Soil Sci., Banghabandhu Sheikh Mujibur Rahman Agricultural University, Gazipur. 2002;17.
26. Alam MM, Ali MH, Amin AKHR. Yield attributes, yield and harvest index of three irrigated rice varieties under different levels of phosphorus. *Advances in Biological Research*. 2009d;3(3-4):132-139.
27. Main MA. Technique on growth and yield of aman rice. MS. Thesis. Dept. of Agronomy, Sher-e-Bangla Agril. Univ., Dhaka; 2006.
28. Brohi A, Karaman M, Aktas A and Savasli E. Effect of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization on the yield and nutrient status of rice grown on artificial siltation soil from the Kelkit river, *Journal Agriculture and Forest*. 1998;22:585-592.
29. Mahajan, J.P., R-P. Singh and A-K. Dwivedi, 1995. Phosphorus utilization by rice varieties in "Vertisol". *J. Nucl. Agric. and Biol*. 1995;24(3):154-157.
30. Xie W, Wang G, Zhang Q. Potential production optimal nutrient simulation and management of two hybrid rice varieties in Jinhua, Zhejiang Province. *J. Zhejiang Univ. Sct*. 2007;8(7): 486-492.
31. Gupta PK. *Handbook of Soils, Fertilizers and manure*. Agro Botanica, New Delhi, India; 1999,

Formatted: Font: (Default) Arial, Portuguese (Brazil)

Formatted: Portuguese (Brazil)